

Public Health Association of Australia: Prisoner health background paper

This paper provides background information to the PHAA's Prisoner Health Policy Position Statement, providing evidence and justification for the public health policy position adopted by the Public Health Association of Australia and for use by other organisations, including governments and the general public.

Summary statement

Prisoners have poorer health than the general community, with particularly high levels of mental health issues, alcohol and other drug misuse, and chronic conditions. They are a vulnerable population with histories of unemployment, homelessness, low levels of education and trauma. Health services available and provided to prisoners should be equivalent to those available in the general community.

Responsibility: PHAA's Justice Health Special Interest Group (SIG)

Date background paper October 2017 adopted:

> Contacts: Professor Stuart Kinner, Professor Tony Butler – Co-Convenors, Justice Health SIG

Contents

Summary statement
Prisoner health public health issue
Background and priorities
Public health and social determinants 3
Governance of prison health services 4
National minimum standards for prison health care 4
Policy priorities
Principles of incarceration -Prison as punishment of last resort
Diversions from prison
Justice targets for Closing the Gap7
Harm minimisation approach to drug use in prison7
Current situation - Australia
Access to Medicare Benefits Scheme and Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme
Diversion from prison policy
Harm minimisation approach to policy in Australia9
Current situation - internationally 10
Diversion from prison policy10
Harm minimisation approach10
Recommended action12
References

Prisoner health public health issue

- 1. The prison population is constantly changing with most prison stays being relatively short and prisoners constantly entering prison and being released from prison back into the community. Therefore the health concerns of prisoners are the health concerns of the general community.
- Prisoners have poorer health than the general community in Australia, with particularly high and complex needs including alcohol and drug misuse, mental health issues, disability, chronic conditions, histories of trauma and challenging socioeconomic circumstances such as homelessness, low levels of education and unemployment.^{1, 2}
- 3. Prisoners are considered to be geriatric at the age of 50-55 years because of their poor health.³

Background and priorities

Public health and social determinants

- 4. In the June 2017 quarter, there were 41,204 prisoners in Australia, at a rate of 217 prisoners per 100,000 adult population, with one-third (33%) of these prisoners on remand awaiting trial or sentencing.⁴ The imprisonment rate in Australia has been increasing steadily over the past decade years from 165 per 100,000 in 2006, ⁵ including a 40% increase in the number of prisoners over the past 5 years.⁴
- 5. These prisoners are a highly vulnerable population. Half (49%) have a history of mental health issues, a quarter are currently taking medication for mental health issues, almost one-third (30%) have a long-term health condition or disability limiting their daily activities or participation in education or employment, one-third (32%) have a chronic condition such as diabetes or cardiovascular disease, three-quarters (74%) are current smokers, and 45% have injected drugs.¹
- 6. Adding to these health issues are socioeconomic vulnerabilities. One-third (32%) of these adults have completed less than Year 10 at school, almost half (48%) were unemployed before entering prison, and one quarter (25%) were homeless or in short-term or emergency accommodation before prison.¹
- As prisoners often come from, and return to, socially disadvantaged communities⁶, addressing of the social determinants of health is a priority.
- 8. Social determinants of health are the conditions in which people are born, grow, live, work and age, including the health system. They are responsible for most health inequities the unfair and avoidable differences in health status seen within and between countries. These circumstances are shaped by the distribution of money, power and resources at global, national and local levels, which are themselves influenced by policy choices.
- The provision of health services to this population is different to health service delivery in the community in Australia, because prisons are a state and territory responsibility rather than a Commonwealth Government responsibility.

Governance of prison health services

- 10. The United Nations Standard Minimum Rules for the Treatment of Prisoners Rule 24 states that:
 - a. The provision of health care for prisoners is a State responsibility. Prisoners should enjoy the same standards of health care that are available in the community, and should have access to necessary health-care services free of charge without discrimination on the grounds of their legal status.
 - b. Health-care services should be organized in close relationship to the general public health administration and in a way that ensures continuity of treatment and care, including for HIV, tuberculosis and other infectious diseases, as well as for drug dependence.⁷
- 11. Rule 24 emphasizes the importance of prison health services being equivalent to health services in the community, the responsibility of the state, and governed through the general public health system.
- 12. In Australia, this means that prison health services should be governed by the relevant State or Territory department responsible for health, rather than the department responsible for custodial services, to ensure that health service provision is independent from the custodial operations.
- 13. Continuity of care from prison to the community is important given the complex health needs of prisoners. For example, former prisoners visit their general practitioner at twice the rate of the general population, especially those with a history of risky opiate use, mental illness or medications in prison.⁸ Integrating prison health services into community health services, is likely to support continuity of care.

National minimum standards for prison health care

- 14. The provision of health services in prison is difficult as health services must fit in with operational and security considerations, making the goal of equivalence and continuity of care between prison and the community difficult to achieve, particularly at entry to prison and at discharge. For example, uncertainty around discharge dates, applications for bail and parole make it difficult to organise processes and appointments ahead of time in preparation for reintegration into the community.
- 15. Overcrowding in Australian prisons is a problem as the prison population is increasing⁵ and regularly beyond capacity⁹. Movements of prisoners between prisons is a strategy often used to manage overcrowding increasing the difficulty of ensuring continuity of health care service delivery.¹⁰
- 16. The difficulties of providing health services in prisons have been noted by the Royal Australian College of General Practitioners in their Standards for health services in Australian prisons. The challenges of the prison environment add to the existing challenges of providing health care to a population with the high and complex needs of prisoners, where good outcomes are already difficult to achieve. Additionally, the high proportion of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders in prison means that there is a strong need for culturally appropriate care.¹¹

- 17. The UN Mandela Rule 25 states that:
 - a. Every prison shall have in place a health-care service tasked with evaluating, promoting, protecting and improving the physical and mental health of prisoners, paying particular attention to prisoners with special health-care needs or with health issues that hamper their rehabilitation.
 - b. The health-care service shall consist of an interdisciplinary team with sufficient qualified personnel acting in full clinical independence and shall encompass sufficient expertise in psychology and psychiatry. The services of a qualified dentist shall be available to every prisoner.⁷
- 18. These rules provide guidance on the minimum care that must be achieved within the constraints of the: State and Territory governance; mixture of public and private prisons; difficulties of the prison environment; and complex health needs of prisoners.
- 19. Currently in Australia, there are no national standards for the delivery of health care to prisoners against which services and outcomes must be measured. These standards are required in order to achieve some consistency and ensure basic levels of service and outcomes are maintained.

Policy priorities

Principles of incarceration -Prison as punishment of last resort

- 20. Prison should be the punishment of last resort for non-violent and non-sexual crimes with alternatives and diversion from prison and the criminal justice system preferred.
- 21. Mandatory sentencing has been widely condemned, has no evidence base for deterrence, rehabilitation or reducing recidivism, and has been consistently opposed by the Law Council of Australia.¹²
- 22. Mandatory and presumptive sentencing are costly in both economic and social terms, and are unlikely to achieve their aims.¹³
- 23. The risk that removing judicial discretion will reduce fairness in sentencing is recognised by the general community.¹⁴
- 24. Mandatory sentences prevent the consideration of personal circumstances and mitigating factors the same underlying social issues which need to be addressed in order to actually reduce the risk of offending.
- 25. Criticisms of mandatory sentencing include that: it defies the separation of powers by compromising the independence of the judiciary; they disproportionately affect Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people; they risk non-compliance with international human rights laws¹⁵; their arbitrary nature is in conflict with the rule of law; there is increased risk of disproportionate sentences resulting increase in prison populations.¹⁶

- 26. Suitable community-based sentence alternatives should be available throughout Australia, including in regional and remote areas.
- 27. Being removed from community and support networks is a negative consequence of prison stays, particularly for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people. Visits from family are beneficial for prisoners and are related to reduced re-offending up to 5 years later.¹⁷
- 28. The distances to prison can often be prohibitive for families and loved ones, adding to the existing logistical and emotional difficulties involved in visiting prisoners.¹⁸ Replacing short sentences with suitable, local, and culturally appropriate community-based sentencing options would help to alleviate the problems caused by the separations of families through imprisonment.

Diversions from prison

- 29. Prison diversions including specialist solution focussed courts and programs have been successfully implemented across the world, including in Australia, and work in several ways to reduce over-crowding in prisons, provide appropriate treatment to address health and other needs, and to complement a harm minimisation approach. They typically have broader and higher aims than conventional courts.¹⁹
- 30. Operating as specialist courts usually with dedicated Magistrates, diversion programs offer:
 - a. a deferred sentencing hearing, providing the offender with the opportunity to demonstrate a commitment to rehabilitation.
 - b. Additional support and services with offenders required to complete certain conditions of rehabilitation prior to the sentencing hearing.
- 31. This is an early intervention approach with voluntary participation, personalised assessment, referral to community-based services, case management by a court based officer, multidisciplinary team based collaboration, use of evidence-based methods, and monitoring of compliance and progress by a dedicated Magistrate at regular review hearings.²⁰
- 32. Programs of these types have been used successfully around the world for offenders with specialist needs including mental health issues, and alcohol and other drug misuse, and are effective in reducing recidivism, and in terms of cost in the medium to long term, especially for adults.²⁰⁻²²
- 33. Drug offenders account for 3-58% of inmates around the world and have higher than average recidivism rates suggesting ineffective treatment while in prison and insufficient referral to treatment on release.²¹
- 34. Alternatives to prison are supported under UN international drug conventions and provide benefits in reducing both drug use and drug-related crime in a cost-effective way, including by:
 - a. decriminalising personal use of illicit drugs,
 - b. providing treatment for people with drug use disorders who are in contact with the criminal justice system, and
 - c. moving funding from supply-reduction to demand and harm reduction measures. ²³

35. Drug courts need ongoing supervision from the Magistrate or Judge, and consequences for noncompliance, with a continuum of treatment types so they can target treatment to those with the highest need.²¹

Justice targets for Closing the Gap

- 36. The ongoing over-representation of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people in prisons⁵ and youth detention centres²⁴ in Australia is an urgent concern. In some settings the rates of incarceration are among the highest in the world.²⁵
- 37. In 2016, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders made up over a quarter (27%) of the prison population, despite accounting for just 2% of the general adult population.⁵ Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people, particularly young females, are more likely to experience short time periods in prison in remand or with short sentences, and are disproportionally represented during a year.²⁶
- 38. Due to incarcerations, 4-15% of men aged 20-39 years are missing from Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities in the Northern Territory at any one time, creating dysfunctions in the population structures and severe social and economic impacts in these communities.²⁷
- 39. A more structured and accountable response would be provided by including a Justice Target as one of the Closing the Gap Targets.

Harm minimisation approach to drug use in prison

- 40. Australia's National Drug Strategy holds a harm minimisation approach of supply reduction, demand reduction and harm reduction.²⁸ National Strategies on Hepatitis B, Hepatitis C, HIV, and Sexually Transmissible Infections are also based on harm minimisation approaches.²⁹⁻³²
- 41. Medication assisted treatment for opioid dependence is one evidence based example of a harm minimisation strategy which has been used internationally over many years, in both the community and in prisons. Different treatment options are available combining psychosocial support with the medication designed to eliminate withdrawal, control or eliminate cravings, or block the euphoric effect of opioid use.³³ For example, a randomised controlled trial found that prisoners who were initiated onto buprenorphine were more likely to undergo treatment in prison and also to enter community based treatment after release than prisoners randomised into a counselling only option.³⁴
- 42. Bloodborne virus (BBV) and sexually transmissible infection (STI) prevention uses a range of public health harm reduction strategies in community services including: testing and vaccination, access to sterile injecting equipment through needle and syringe programs and safe injecting facilities, access to condoms, and latex gloves, and sexual health education campaigns and interventions. These measures are recommended for prisoners who are at increased risk of BBV and STIs, and risky sexual behaviour.³⁵

Current situation - Australia

Access to Medicare Benefits Scheme and Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme

- 43. The Commonwealth Government's Medicare Benefits Scheme and Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme (known collectively as Medicare) provide payments and services for health care services and medicines. Section 19 (2) of the Health Insurance Act 1973 (Commonwealth) which governs Medicare states that: Unless the Minister otherwise directs, a Medicare benefit is not payable in respect of a professional service that has been rendered by, or on behalf or, or under an arrangement with:
 - (a) The Commonwealth
 - (b) A State
 - (c) A local governing body or
 - (d) An authority established by a law of the Commonwealth, a law of a State or a law of an internal Territory.³⁶
- 44. With prison health provided by the state or territory, prisoners are excluded from Medicare on the basis that funding would constitute 'double dipping', because Medicare is Commonwealth funding. This assumes that the health services provided in prison are compliant with the Mandela Rule of being equivalent to community health services. Where this is not the case, the provision for Ministerial exemptions allows for situations where the exclusion under Section 19(2) causes disadvantage. This exemption has been used in the past, for example in some rural and remote areas.³⁷
- 45. Excluding prisoners from receiving Medicare rebates has been criticised as breaching human rights, resulting in suboptimal health care, and perpetuating the cycle of ill health and disadvantage, and the underinvestment in prison health services means that some prisoners may miss out on specific treatments and medications.³⁸
- 46. Two specific examples where prisoners do not receive health services equivalent to the community are:
 - a. Medicare item number 715 is a Health Assessment for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people.³⁹ No exemptions have been granted to prison health services, and no equivalent culturally appropriate health assessment in prisons exists.⁴⁰
 - b. Since 2011, psychological services have been available with Medicare rebates for up to 10 individual and 10 group allied mental health services each year.⁴¹ Prison service are usually limited to those with the most severe need and with limited options for ongoing counselling.⁴⁰
- 47. Under s19 (2), the Minister could grant exemptions to the exclusion of prisoners for specific items such as these where prisoners are disadvantaged.

Diversion from prison policy

- 48. Diversion from prison in the form of solution focused courts, operates in most jurisdictions in Australia:
 - a. In 2016, specialist courts or lists for drugs and mental health operated in all jurisdictions except the Northern Territory, Australian Capital Territory and Queensland.
 - b. There are also specialist courts for family violence, prostitution, teenagers, truancy, welfare fraud and community courts in various jurisdictions.
 - c. Drug Courts, Special Circumstances Court list (for homeless and mentally impaired offenders) and Murri Courts were all closed in Queensland in 2012, as was a Youth Drug Court in New South Wales.²⁰
- 49. Mental health diversion courts in South Australia have been found to reduce the rate and severity of re-offending for those successfully completing the program and even those not fully completing it had a reduced risk of re-offending. Appropriate community follow-up care prior to discharge from the program was recommended to maximise the benefits.⁴²
- 50. Australia leads the world in court innovation for Indigenous sentencing court programs.⁴³ The first Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander sentencing court program in Australia was established in Port Adelaide in June 1999, and since 2006 they have been operating in various forms in all Australian jurisdictions except Tasmania.¹⁹
- 51. Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander programs combine elements of conventional sentencing processes with agreed practices or protocols for the inclusion of local elders. Common elements include: use of dialogue in a circle rather than the usual elevated position for judicial officers; the offender must be Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander, plead or be found guilty and consent to the program; and the Magistrate retains the ultimate sentencing power.
- 52. These specialist courts have both community-building and offending centred aims, and seek to increase the participation and involvement of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander community members, victims and offenders in the sentencing process, and increase the confidence of the local communities in the court processes and criminal justice system.¹⁹

Harm minimisation approach to policy in Australia

53. The degree to which Australia's harm minimisation approach extends to prison health services differs by jurisdiction. Medication assisted treatment for opioid dependence is available for prisoners in all jurisdictions, but with differences in the types of treatment and circumstances under which it is available.¹

- 54. Harm reduction measures for sexually transmissible infections such as condoms and dental dams are available in prisons in Australia, but differ among the jurisdictions in terms of ease of anonymous access. Condoms have been available to prisoners in New South Wales for a number of years with prisoner health benefits and without any negative effects in the longer term for the operation of the prison.⁴⁴
- 55. The Australian Capital Territory Government investigated a needle and syringe program (NSP) trial in the Alexander Maconochie Centre (AMC) prison based on a 2011 evaluation of their drug policies and services.⁴⁵ A PHAA government commissioned report recommended suitable models and consultation processes based on international experience.⁴⁶ However, the trial stalled with the 2015 Government announcement that no trial would proceed without the approval of a majority of prison officers.⁴⁷

Current situation - internationally

Diversion from prison policy

- 56. The first modern solution focused courts were established in Florida, in the United States of America, with a drug court in 1989, and a mental health court in 1997. Programs are now established in for neighbourhood courts, veterans courts, drink driving courts, and prostitution courts in countries including Canada, England, Wales, New Zealand, Germany and Brazil.²⁰
- 57. The electronic monitoring of offenders as an alternative to prison or for early release from prison is now an established and regularly applied measure in more than 30 countries worldwide.⁴⁸ Global position system (GPS) technology, which is the form of electronic monitoring used in Australia, is more likely to reduce recidivism and detect parole violations, and is less expensive than incarceration.⁴⁸

Harm minimisation approach

Needle and syringe programs

- 58. Needle and syringe programs (NSP) have successfully operated in prisons around the world for over 20 years. In 2015, eight countries had prison NSPs, and another 74, including Australia, provide NSPs in the community but not in prison.⁴⁹
- 59. Countries as diverse as Spain, Luxembourg, Moldova, and Kyrgyzstan have prison programs in place which have reduced the spread of BBV, facilitated entry into drug treatment programs, and contributed to workplace safety without a single recorded instance of needle stick injury or increases in drug use or availability since their implementation.⁵⁰

Naloxone on release from prison

60. Naloxone, an opioid antagonist, has no clear potential for misuse, and can be administered by nonmedical people with minimal training. It has been used in take-home packs to prevent overdose deaths in the community for the past 20 years.

- 61. Raised as an idea at the 3rd International Harm Reduction Conference, since 2011, there are now programs in Australia, Canada, 9 European countries, and the United States of America, plus pilots in Afghanistan, China, India, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Russia, Tajikistan, Thailand, Ukraine, Vietnam.
- 62. Naloxone was added to the Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme in Australia in December 2012, and has been available over the counter since February 2016.
- 63. In the first 3 years of operation in Australia, there were 57 recorded successful overdose reversals.⁵¹
- 64. The period immediately after release from prison is known to be one of high risk for drug overdose and death for ex-prisoners.⁵² With this in mind and with the success of community naloxone, trials and programs have been established in both the United Kingdom and United States of America.
- 65. Difficulties exist with trying to establish a program of take-home naloxone for prisoners on release including:
 - a. negative and confused perceptions of such programs among both prison staff and prisoners including how it fits in with attempts to use prison as an opportunity to address drug misuse
 - b. the difficulty of identifying and engaging with eligible prisoners
 - c. engagement of senior prison staff in the program, and
 - d. the processes in individual prisons must be taken account of for effective distribution to occur.⁵³
- 66. The benefits of such a program are evident. Scotland introduced a National Naloxone Program which included distribution of naloxone to prisoners prior to release resulting in 36% reduction opioid related deaths in the four weeks following release since 2011.⁵⁴

Decriminalisation of drugs

67. In 2001, Portugal decriminalised personal use of drugs. The possession and sale of drugs remained illegal but possession of up to a 10 day supply is considered for personal use and is redirected to the Commission for the Dissuasion of Drug Addiction instead of prosecuted. The Commission Committees of social workers, doctors and legal advisors, assess the level of dependence and direct the person to appropriate treatment. Decriminalisation was accompanied by increases in resources for treatment, harm reduction, and prevention interventions. Result include: decreases in use by young people consistent with experimentation and discontinuation, a reduction in drug inducted deaths, and a significantly reduced burden in courts and the prison system.²¹

Recommended action

- 68. Health care services in criminal justice settings should be equivalent to those available in community settings. Currently there are inequities for prisoners which if addressed would improve prisoner health, public health and reduce offending behaviour.
- 69. Justice Targets should be added to the Closing the Gap Targets to reduce the over-representation of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples' contact with the criminal justice system.
- 70. Health services for prisoners should be provided by the relevant State or Territory health department, and prisoners should be given the right to access Medicare and the PBS in those instances where certain health services are not provided by the State or Territory.
- 71. A harm minimisation approach should be incorporated into health policy, services and standards of care in correctional settings. This should include needle and syringe programs, medically assisted treatment of opioid dependence including the provision of naloxone on release from prison, and testing and treatment for STIs and BBVs.
- 72. The Commonwealth Government should support a national approach to establish minimum standards to protect, promote and maintain the health and well-being of prisoners.

ADOPTED 2017

First adopted at the 2017 Annual General Meeting of the Public Health Association of Australia.

References

1. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. The health of Australia's prisoners 2015. Cat. no. PHE 207. Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare; 2015.

2. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Medication use by Australia's prisoners 2015: how is it different from the general community? Bulletin 135. Cat. no. AUS 202. Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare; 2016.

3. Williams BA, Ahalt C, Greifinger RB. The older prisoner and complex chronic medical care. In: World Health Organization, editor. Prisons and health. Copenhaen: WHO; 2014.

4. Australian Bureau of Statistics. Corrective Services, Australia, June Quarter 2017. ABS Catalogue number 4512.0. Canberra: Australian Bureau of Statistics; 2017.

5. Australian Bureau of Statistics. Prisoners in Australia, 2016. ABS Catalogue number 4517.0. Canberra: Australian Bureau of Statistics; 2016.

6. WHO Regional Office for Europe. Good governance for prison health in the 21st century: A policy brief on the organization of prison health. Copenhagen: World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe; 2013.

7. United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime. United Nations Standard Minimum Rules for the Treatment of Prisoners: The Nelson Mandela Rules. General Assembly resolution 70/175 annex, adopted 17 December 2015. United Nations 2015.

8. Carroll M, Spittal MJ, Kemp-Casey AR, Lennox NG, Preen DB, Sutherland G, et al. High rates of general practice attendance by former prisoners: a prospective cohort study. The Medical journal of Australia. 2017;207(2):75-80.

9. Productivity Commission. Report on Government Services 2017. Chapter 8: Corrective Services. Canberra: Productivity Commission; 2017.

10. Grace J, Krom I, Maling C, Butler TG, Midford R, Simpson P. Review of Indigenous offender health. Perth: Australian Indigenous HealthInfoNet; 2013.

11. Royal Australian College of General Practitioners. Standards for health services in Australian prisons 1st edition. Melbourne: Royal Australian College of General Practitioners; 2011.

12. Law Council of Australia. Policy discussion paper on mandatory sentencing. Canberra: Law Council of Australia; 2014.

13. Hoel A, Gelb K. Mandatory Sentencing Sentencing Matters Research Paper. Melbourne: Sentencing Advisory Council of Victoria; 2008.

14. Stobbs N, Mackenzie G, Gelb K. Sentencing and public confidence in Australia: The dynamics and foci of small group deliberations. Australian & New Zealand Journal of Criminology. 2014;48(2):219-37.

15. Solonec T. Tough on crime discrimination by another name: the legacy of mandatory sentencing in Western Australia. Indigenous Law Bulletin. 2015;8(18):7-11.

16. Grey A. Mandatory sentencing around the world and the need for reform. New Criminal Law Review. 2017;20(3):391-432.

17. Duwe G, Clark V. Blessed Be the Social Tie That Binds: The effects of prison visitation on offender recividism. Criminal Justice Policy Review. 2011;24(3):271-96.

18. Flynn C. Getting there and being there: visits to prisons in Victoria - the experiences of women prisoners and their children. Probation Journal. 2014;61(2):176-91.

19. Marchetti E. Nothing works? A meta-review of Indigenous Sentencing Court Evaluations. Current Issues in Criminal Justice. 2017;28(3):257-76.

20. Edgeley M. Addressing the solution-focused sceptics: Moving beyond punitivity in the sentencing of drug-addicted and mentally impaired offenders. UNSW Law Journal. 2016;39(1):206-33.

21. Clark N, Dolan K, Farabee D. Public health alternatives to incarceration for drug offenders. Eastern Mediterranean Health Journal. 2017;23(3):222-30.

22. Shanahan M, Hughes C, McSweeney T. Police diversion for cannabis offences: Assessing outcomes and cost-effectiveness. Trends and Issues in Crime and Criminal Justice, No. 532. Canberra: Australian Institute of Criminology; 2017.

23. Lale-Demoz A. Alternatives to imprisonment and proportionate responses to drug offences. Presentation by Deputy Executive Director, Division for Operations and Global Coordinator for HIV/AIDS UNODC. In: United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime, editor. 59th Session of the Commission of Narcotic Drugs; 15 March 2016.

24. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Youth justice in Australia 2015-16. Bulletin 139. Cat. no. AUS 211. Canberra Australian Institute of Health and Welfare; 2017.

25. World Prison Brief. Prison population data. International Centre for Prison Studies <u>www.prisonstudies.org/highest-to-lowest/prison_population_rate?field_regional_taxonomy_tid=All</u> Accessed 25 July 2017; 2017.

26. Avery A, Kinner SA. A robust estimate of the number and characteristics of persons released from prison in Australia. Australian and New Zealand journal of public health. 2015;39(4):315-8.

27. Payer H, Taylor A, Barnes T. Who's missing? Social and Demographic Impacts from the Incarceration of Indigenous People in the Northern Territory. 2015.

28. Department of Health. National Drug Strategy 2017-2026. Canberra: Commonwealth Department of Health; 2017.

29. Department of Health. Second National Hepatitis B Strategy 2014-2017. Canberra: Department of Health; 2014.

30. Department of Health. Fourth National Hepatitis C Strategy 2014-2017. Canberra: Department of Health; 2014.

31. Department of Health. Seventh National HIV Strategy. Canberra Department of Health; 2014.

32. Department of Health. Third National Sexually Transmissible Infections Strategy 2014-2017. Canberra: Department of Health; 2014.

33. Gowing L, Ali R, Dunlop A, Farrell M, Lintzeris N. National Guidelines for Medication-Assisted Treatment of Opioid Dependence. Canberra: Department of Health; 2014.

34. Gordon MS, Kinlock TW, Schwartz RP, Fitzgerald TT, O'Grady KE, Vocci FJ. A randomized controlled trial of prison-initiated buprenorphine: prison outcomes and community treatment entry. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2014;142:33-40.

35. Butler T, Malacova E, Richters J, Yap L, Grant L, Richards A, et al. Sexual behaviour and sexual health of Australian prisoners. Sex Health. 2013;10(1):64-73.

36. Health Insurance Act 1973 Section 19 (2) <u>http://www.austlii.edu.au/cgi-</u>

<u>bin/viewdoc/au/legis/cth/consol_act/hia1973164/s19.html</u> Accessed 15 September 2017.

37. Department of Health. Council of Australian Governments (COAG) Improving Access to Primary Care in Rural and Remote Areas - COAG s19 (2) Exemptions Initiative.

<u>http://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/COAG+s19%282%29+Exemptions+Initiati</u> ve Accessed 15 September 2017. 2017.

38. Kinner SA, Streitberg L, Butler TG, Levy M. Prisoner and ex-prisoner health: improving access to primary care. Australian Family Physician. 2012;41(7):535-7.

39. Department of Health. Medicare Health Assessment for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander People (MBS Item 715).

http://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/mbsprimarycare_ATSI_MBSitem715 Accessed 15 September 2017. 2013.

40. Plueckhahn TM, Kinner SA, Sutherland G, Butler TG. Are some more equal than others? Challenging the basis for prisoners' exclusion from Medicare. The Medical journal of Australia. 2015;203(9):359-61.

41. Department of Health. Better Access to Psychiatrists, Psychologists and General Practitioners through the MBS (Better Access) initiative.

http://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/content/health-pcd-programs-amhpm Accessed 15 September 2017. 2011.

42. Lim L, Day A. Mental health diversion courts: a two year recidivism study of a South Australian mental health court program. Behav Sci Law. 2014;32(4):539-51.

43. Marchetti E, Downie R. Indigenous people and sentencing courts in Australia, New Zealand and Canada. In: Bucerius S, Tonry M, editors. The Oxford Handbook on Ethnicity, Crime and Immigration. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2014. p. 360-85.

44. Yap L, Butler T, Richters J, Kirkwood K, Grant L, Saxby M, et al. Do condoms cause rape and mayhem? The long-term effects of condoms in New South Wales' prisons. Sex Transm Infect. 2007;83(3):219-22.

45. Stoové M, Kirwan A. External component of the evaluation of drug policies and services and their subsequent effects on prisoners and staff within the Alexander Maconochie Centre. Melbourne: Burnet Institute; 2011.

46. Moore M. Balancing access and safety. Meeting the challenge of blood borne viruses in prison: report for the ACT Government into implementation of a Needle and Syringe Program at the Alexander Maconochie Centre. Canberra: Public Health Association of Australia; 2011.

47. Progress on Corrective Services EBA [press release]. ACT Minister for Justice, ACT Government, 1 April 2015 2015.

48. Bartels L, Martinovic M. Electronic monitoring: The experience in Australia. European Journal of Probation. 2017;9(1):80-102.

49. Stoové M, Treloar CJ, Maher L, Tyrrell H, Wallace J. Salvaging a prison needle and syringe program trial in Australia requires leadership and respect for evidence. The Medical journal of Australia. 2015;203(8):319-20.

50. United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime. A handbook for starting and managing needle and syringe programmes in prisons and other closed settings. Vienna, Austria: UNODC; 2014.

51. Dietze PM, editor Take-home naloxone in Australia. Proceedings of the UNODC Community Management of Opioid Overdose: Development of a Comprehensive Study Protocol; 2016 December 5–7.

52. Winter RJ, Stoove M, Degenhardt L, Hellard ME, Spelman T, Jenkinson R, et al. Incidence and predictors of non-fatal drug overdose after release from prison among people who inject drugs in Queensland, Australia. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2015;153:43-9.

53. Sondhi A, Ryan G, Day E. Stakeholder perceptions and operational barriers in the training and distribution of take-home naloxone within prisons in England. Harm Reduct J. 2016;13:5.

54. Bird SM, McAuley A, Perry S, Hunter C. Effectiveness of Scotland's National Naloxone Programme for reducing opioid-related deaths: a before (2006-10) versus after (2011-13) comparison. Addiction. 2016;111(5):883-91.